FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
10/28/2022 4:12 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/31/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. <u>1014</u>14-7 COA NO. 54870-4-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SAREPTA THERAPEUTICS, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE HEALTH CARE AUTHORITY,

Respondent.

SAREPTA THERAPEUTICS, INC.'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Warren Rheaume, WSBA #13627 Benjamin J. Robbins, WSBA #53376 Margaret Wykowski, WSBA # 57789 Davis Wright Tremaine LLP 920 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3300 Seattle, Washington 98104-1610 Phone: (206) 622-3150

I. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Sarepta Therapeutics, Inc. ("Sarepta") seeks review of the Court of Appeals' Decision designated in Part II of this Petition.

The Court of Appeals' decision implicates the substantial public interest in access to essential prescription drugs for lowincome Washingtonians on Medicaid. The central question is whether Washington's Medicaid agency, the Health Care Authority ("HCA"), can choose to deny coverage of a physicianprescribed medication to patients diagnosed with Duchenne muscular dystrophy ("DMD"), a debilitating and ultimately fatal disease that strikes young children. Sarepta developed EXONDYS 51 ("Exondys"), the only drug approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") that treats a particular underlying cause of DMD. The Court of Appeals' rejection of mandatory coverage of Exondys when prescribed for its FDAapproved indication allows HCA to substitute its judgment for that of the FDA and treating physicians in violation of federal law. This Court should intervene to protect public access to medications that Washington State physicians have determined are necessary to treat Medicaid patients with DMD.

The Court of Appeals reversed the Superior Court, holding that Sarepta lacked standing to petition for judicial review of HCA's drug coverage rules. In doing so, the Court of Appeals has authorized HCA to deprive Washington children with DMD of the only FDA-approved treatment aimed at a particular cause of their disease. The Court of Appeals' Decision conflicts with decisions of this Court, ignores the text and purpose of the federal statute in question, and raises an issue of substantial public interest.

The Court should grant Sarepta's petition and find that the Court of Appeals erred for three independent reasons. *First*, the Court of Appeals applied the incorrect standard when analyzing standing. The zone of interests test requires a "lenient approach" in which "the benefit of any doubt goes to the plaintiff." This Court's precedent provides that "the test is not especially demanding," particularly when legislative means and ends are

"inextricably tied." The Court of Appeals applied a stricter standard inconsistent with the decisions of this Court.

Second, the Court of Appeals' Decision is incorrect as a matter of law and contrary to a host of other authorities omitted from the Decision, as well as the federal Social Security Act and the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program (the "MDRP"). The Social Security Act and the MDRP establish a covenant between the federal government, state governments, and drug manufacturers. Drug manufacturers that voluntarily sign rebate agreements and participate in this framework, like Sarepta, are crucial stakeholders in the system and meet the zone of interests test. Moreover, the bargained-for coverage under the MDRP has meaning only if coverage results in payment. Under the Court of Appeals' reading—which distinguishes coverage from payment the coverage requirement becomes a dead letter. When the Medicaid system is properly understood, Sarepta easily satisfies the zone of interests test.

Third, the Court of Appeals conflated its analysis of standing with the merits. By distinguishing between coverage and payment in the MDRP, the Court of Appeals answered the question at the heart of Sarepta's claim. In blurring this line between standing and the merits, the Court of Appeals ran afoul of this Court's precedent and widely accepted general principles of standing.

For these reasons, this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

II. DECISION BELOW

Sarepta seeks review of the decision filed by Division II on October 26, 2021 (the "Decision"), holding that Sarepta lacks standing to petition for judicial review. A copy of the Decision is included in the Appendix, *see* App. B.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals err by applying the incorrect standard under the zone of interests test?

- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err by ruling that Sarepta does not satisfy the zone of interests test?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals err by conflating its standing analysis with the merits of Sarepta's claim?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

FDA's Accelerated Approval of Exondys. Duchenne muscular dystrophy ("DMD") is a rare genetic disorder that generally affects boys in early childhood. Children with DMD have a genetic mutation that impedes the production of dystrophin, a protein found in muscle cells that is critical for muscle structure, function, and preservation. Patients with DMD are typically dependent on a wheelchair by the age of 10 and have a life expectancy of approximately 27 years. CP 107. The disease is universally fatal.

Before 2016, the only available therapies focused on improving symptoms, enhancing quality of life, and decreasing disease progression. CP 108. But on September 19, 2016, through an accelerated approval process, Exondys became the

first therapy approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") to treat the underlying cause of DMD. In approving Exondys, the FDA concluded that the drug met the full statutory standards for safety and effectiveness required for all FDA-approved prescription drugs. CP 180. As such, the approval of Exondys marked a significant advance in the fight against DMD.

Prescription Drug Coverage under the Social Security

Act. The Social Security Act dictates how a state Medicaid agency must provide coverage for FDA-approved drugs made by manufacturers that have signed Medicaid rebate agreements.

42 U.S.C. § 1396r-8. The Social Security Act generally requires states that opt in to outpatient prescription drug assistance to cover all "covered outpatient drugs" when those medicines are prescribed for an FDA-approved indication or an otherwise "medically accepted" use. Id. § 1396r-8(d)(1)(B)(i). The coverage requirement is subject only to narrow exceptions not applicable here. Id.

The MDRP establishes a covenant between the federal government, state governments, and drug manufacturers. Under the MDRP, drug manufacturers that enter into a Medicaid Prescription Drug Agreement with the Secretary of Health and Human Services must provide a statutory minimum 23.1% in rebates to the Medicaid program for "covered outpatient drugs." 42 U.S.C. § 1396r-8(c)(1)(B)(i)(VI). In exchange, to receive federal funding, state Medicaid agencies must follow the Social Security Act's requirements and must cover the manufacturers' covered outpatient drugs, subject to only narrow exceptions. *Id.* § 1396r-8(d)(1)(B)(i). See Samantha A. v. Dep't of Soc. Servs. & Health Servs., 171 Wn.2d 623, 630, 256 P.3d 1138 (2011) ("As a voluntary participant in the federal Medicaid program, Washington State must comply with Medicaid statutes and related regulations."). The guarantee of coverage provides the financial incentive for manufacturers to sign rebate agreements, which leads to reduced costs for—and broader access to—prescription drugs for Medicaid patients across the country.

HCA's Violation of the Social Security Act. HCA has established a regulatory scheme that is contrary to federal law and disregards the incentives and compromises inherent in the MDRP. Under HCA's rules, it independently determines—even for FDAapproved prescription drugs—whether services are "medically necessary" before providing coverage, applying a "hierarchy of evidence" standard to evaluate the medical effectiveness and safety of a service. See WAC 182-501-0165(3); WAC 182-500-0070; WAC 182-501-0165(3), (4), (6). Using these rules, HCA has ceded to itself the authority to deny coverage for Exondys to Washington children afflicted with DMD, despite Sarepta having entered a Medicaid Prescription Drug Agreement and the patients' physicians having determined that Exondys was medically necessary. CP 146; 133; 136; 142. The effect of HCA's position is twofold: HCA can deny Washington children crucial medical care, and HCA can deny Sarepta the benefit of the bargain for participating in the MDRP.

Prior authorization regimes—whereby state Medicaid agencies can withhold coverage if, for example, a drug is not prescribed for an FDA-approved indication—are inarguably permitted under the Social Security Act. See 42 U.S.C. § 1396r-8(d)(1)(A). Federal law does not, however, allow state Medicaid agencies to apply a prior authorization threshold to deny coverage where a physician has determined that drug is medically necessary when prescribed for its FDA-approved indication for a particular patient. In other words, HCA's regulatory framework enables it to skirt its obligations under the Social Security Act by allowing it to determine—using its own criteria—that covered outpatient drugs are not medically necessary. This approach allows HCA to receive federal funding for Washington's Medicaid program without fulfilling its federally mandated obligation to pay for covered outpatient drugs, subject to a 23.1% rebate from a manufacturer. In short, HCA is benefiting from the bargain without upholding its end of the deal.

Violation of the Social Security Act in this manner threatens to reduce the availability of FDA-approved treatments to all Washingtonians by disincentivizing drug manufacturers to develop innovative medications and participate in the MDRP.

Procedural History. Sarepta filed its Petition for Judicial Review on July 12, 2019. The Superior Court found that Sarepta had standing but denied Sarepta's request for declaratory and other relief. Report of Proceedings, App. A, 47. Sarepta timely filed its Notice of Appeal on April 6, 2020.

On October 26, 2021, the Court of Appeals issued an opinion terminating review, holding that Sarepta lacked standing to file its petition for judicial review. Decision at 1. Applying an unduly exacting standard, the Court of Appeals concluded that because the state legislature did not specifically intend to protect a drug manufacture's financial interests when it established Washington's Medicaid program, Sarepta failed to satisfy the zone of interests test. Decision at 11. In so ruling, the Court of Appeals ignored this Court's precedent outlining the flexible

nature of the zone of interests test. Sarepta timely filed a motion for reconsideration on November 15, 2021, which was denied in a one-line order on September 28, 2022.

V. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals' Decision to terminate review on standing grounds means that HCA can deprive Washington children diagnosed with DMD access to a life-prolonging treatment. The Decision also eviscerates the incentive structure fundamental to the MDRP and threatens to reduce access to low-cost prescription drugs for Washingtonians on Medicaid. This Court should accept Sarepta's Petition in light of the substantial issues of public interest that this case raises with respect to Medicaid patients' access to prescription drugs.

Beyond that, in finding no standing, the Court of Appeals erred in three fundamental ways. *First*, the Court of Appeals applied the incorrect standard under the zone of interests test. *Second*, the Court of Appeals, had it interpreted the Social Security Act correctly, should have found that Sarepta easily

11

satisfies the zone of interests test. *Third*, the Court of Appeals conflated its standing analysis with the merits of Sarepta's claim.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Implicates the Substantial Public Interest in Securing Medical Treatment for Washington Children with DMD.

This Court should grant Sarepta's petition because the Decision concerns the profound public interest in access to life-prolonging, FDA-approved medical treatments. *Cf. Matter of Recall of Inslee*, 199 Wn.2d 416, 430, 508 P.3d 635 (2022) ("Protecting public health is a substantial and compelling public interest."). The regulatory mechanisms erected by HCA allow the agency to circumvent federal law and deny low-income patients access to medical services, even after the FDA and a patient's doctor determine that such services are medically necessary. This Court should intervene to protect public health and ensure that HCA complies with the Social Security Act and MDRP.

Most immediately, the Decision permits HCA to restrict low-income Washington children diagnosed with DMD access to Exondys. Exondys is the only FDA-approved medication that

12

treats a particular cause of DMD, offering hope to patients facing an otherwise progressive and universally fatal disease. By denying Sarepta's right to petition for judicial review, the Court of Appeals has left in place a regime that permits HCA to unilaterally deny these children access to this innovative treatment. The public has a strong interest in preserving access to healthcare for all individuals receiving Medicaid benefits. *Cf. Matter of Recall of Inslee*, 199 Wn.2d at 430; *see also* RCW 70.01.010 (favoring statutory construction "most likely to satisfy federal laws entitling this state to receive federal funds for the various programs of public health").

More broadly, the Decision allows HCA to continue circumventing its obligations under the Social Security Act and MDRP with respect to other medications that it deems medically unnecessary. As a drug manufacturer with a rebate agreement, Sarepta is uniquely situated to challenge HCA's conduct on a statewide scale. The concomitant public benefit is that low-income Medicaid recipients in need of treatment will not be

forced to fight on a case-by-case basis HCA's determinations that contravene the judgment of the FDA and their doctors.

B. The Court of Appeals Applied the Incorrect Standard Under the Zone of Interests Test.

The zone of interests test is part of a three-pronged analysis to establish standing to challenge agency action. The Washington Administrative Procedure Act (the "APA") "delineates standing requirements that differ from the general standing test." *City of Burlington v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd.*, 187 Wn. App. 853, 861, 351 P.3d 875 (2015), *as amended* (June 17, 2015). A petitioner has standing to obtain judicial review of an agency action if that person is "aggrieved or adversely affected by the agency action." RCW 34.05.530. A person is "aggrieved or adversely affected" under the APA under the following conditions:

- (1) The agency action has prejudiced or is likely to prejudice that person;
- (2) That person's asserted interests are among those that the agency was required to consider when it engaged in the agency action challenged; and

(3) A judgment in favor of that person would substantially eliminate or redress the prejudice to that person caused or likely to be caused by the agency action.

Id.; see also City of Burlington, 187 Wn. App. at 862. The second prong is known as the "zone of interests" test. *Id.* (citing Allan v. Univ. of Wash., 140 Wn.2d 323, 327, 997 P.2d 360 (2000)).

Washington courts routinely acknowledge that "although the zone of interests test serves as an additional filter limiting the group which can obtain judicial review of an agency decision, the 'test is not meant to be especially demanding." *Seattle Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council v. Apprenticeship & Training Council*, 129 Wn.2d 787, 797, 920 P.2d 581 (1996) (quoting *Clarke v. Sec. Indus. Ass'n*, 479 U.S. 388, 399, 107 S. Ct. 750, 93 L. Ed. 2d 757 (1987)); *KS Tacoma Holdings, LLC v. Shorelines Hearings Bd.*, 166 Wn. App. 117, 128, 272 P.3d 876 (2012) (same). Despite

this, the Court of Appeals failed to apply the lenient standard required by this Court's precedent.¹

St. Joseph Hospital & Health Care Center v. Department of Health—which the Court of Appeals cited but did not analyze—demonstrates an appropriate application of the lenient zone of interests test. See 125 Wn.2d 733, 740-42, 887 P.2d 891 (1995). There, this Court considered the test with respect to the competitive and economic interests of healthcare providers in a state health planning program developed in response to federal law. See id. at 735-37. The Department of Health argued that the provider plaintiff lacked standing by pointing to legislative

_

Washington law directs that "courts should interpret provisions of [the APA] consistently with decisions of other courts interpreting similar provisions of ... the federal government." RCW 34.05.001. In addition to ignoring this Court's precedent, the Court of Appeals also ignored a host of other authorities, including numerous U.S. Supreme Court opinions, outlining the lenient and forgiving zone of interests inquiry. *See, e.g., Lexmark Int'l, Inc. v. Static Control Components, Inc.*, 572 U.S. 118, 130, 134 S. Ct. 1377, 188 L. Ed. 2d 392 (2014); *Match-E-Be-Nash-She-Wish Band of Pottawatomi Indians v. Patchak*, 567 U.S. 209, 225, 132 S. Ct. 2199, 183 L. Ed. 2d 211 (2012).

statements of purpose discussing the importance of access to costeffective healthcare services for the public, claiming that the "economic and competitive interests of existing providers" were not considered. *Id.* at 740-41. The provider argued in response that the focus on cost control necessarily "require[d] its economic interests [to] be considered." *Id.* at 741. This Court agreed:

While the Legislature clearly wanted to control health care costs to the public, equally clear is its intention to accomplish that control by limiting competition within the health care industry. The U.S. Congress and our Legislature made the judgment that competition had a tendency to drive health care costs up rather than down and government therefore needed to restrain marketplace forces. *The means and end here are inextricably tied.* Because the Legislature intended to regulate competition as well as control costs, we hold competing service providers to be within the statutory zone of interest.

Id. (emphasis added). By looking to the interests affected by the statutory framework, including those touched by the means to achieve the desired end, the Court in *St. Joseph* outlined the flexible standard for the zone of interests test that Washington courts must apply.

Washington State Housing Finance Commission v. National Homebuyers Fund, Inc., 193 Wn.2d 704, 445 P.3d 533 (2019), is similarly instructive. There, the Legislature had delegated authority to the Washington State Housing Finance Commission (the "Commission") to provide financial assistance for down payments to home buyers. *Id.* at 707. The Commission sought to prevent a private company from conducting the same type of business in Washington, arguing that "its activities impermissibly compete with the Commission's own activities." Id. The Court acknowledged that the Commission's enabling act did not contain an explicit prohibition on competition that would satisfy the zone of interests test. *Id.* at 715. But under the flexible test required by precedent, the Court found that it "must determine if one is nonetheless implied." Id. Looking to the "statute's purpose and operation," the Court concluded that "the Commission's interest against interference from competitors purporting to exercise such authority without authorization is implicit within its enabling act," thus satisfying the zone of interests test. *Id.* at 716; see also Five

Corners Fam. Farmers v. State, 173 Wn.2d 296, 304-05, 268 P.3d 892 (2011) ("In ascertaining the zone of interests protected by a statute, it is appropriate to look both to the operation of the statute, and to the statute's general purpose." (citations omitted)).

Contrary to this authority, the Court of Appeals applied an improper and significantly more exacting standard by searching for a specific and express congressional intent to benefit or safeguard the financial interests of drug manufacturers. See Sarepta Therapeutics, Inc. v. Health Care Auth., 19 Wn. App. 2d 538, 552, 497 P.3d 454 (2021) ("Congress did not intend for prescription drug programs to protect the financial interests of drug manufacturers."); id. ("The legislative history of the MDRP does not establish Congress's intent to protect drug manufacturer's financial interests when establishing the MDRP."). This approach disregards the lenient and flexible standard employed by this Court and fails to consider the interests affected by the overall statutory framework, including those interests impliedly affected by the MDRP.

C. The Court of Appeals Erred by Concluding that Sarepta Fails to Satisfy the Zone of Interests Test.

Had the Court of Appeals considered the interests affected by the MDRP and carefully analyzed its text and purpose—as this Court's precedent requires—it would have concluded that Sarepta satisfies the zone of interests test. Instead, the Decision demonstrates a fundamental misunderstanding of the MDRP's statutory framework and incentive structure. This misunderstanding is most directly evidenced by the Court of Appeals' erroneous distinction between "coverage" and "payment" that strips all meaning from the coverage requirement. The Court of Appeals' treatment of the text and legislative history runs contrary to this Court's prior decisions.

1. The Purpose of the MDRP

The Court of Appeals failed to appreciate that the MDRP establishes a covenant between the federal government, state governments, and drug manufacturers that necessarily implicates the economic interests of companies like Sarepta. Established by the Social Security Act, Medicaid is a cooperative federal-state

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