FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/28/2022 4:56 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 101414-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SAREPTA THERAPEUTICS, INC.,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE HEALTH CARE AUTHORITY

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT. W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KATY HATFIELD, WSBA NO. 39906 NISSA IVERSEN, WSBA NO. 46708 Assistant Attorneys General

Office of the Attorney General 7141 Cleanwater Drive SW PO Box 40124 Olympia, WA 98504-0124 (360) 586-6565 Katy.Hatfield@atg.wa.gov Nissa.Iversen@atg.wa.gov OID No. 91021

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

VI. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court should deny review because none of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b) has been satisfied.

Sarepta's main argument, that the Court of Appeals misunderstood the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program and that this Court should accept review "to correct the error," is nothing more than an attempt to re-litigate the merits of the legal issues decided by the Court of Appeals, and has no basis in the grounds

articulated under RAP 13.4. Petition at 27. Additionally, although Sarepta also argues that the Court of Appeals' decision regarding standing conflicts with two opinions of this Court, an analysis of those two cases reveals no conflict. Finally, Sarepta attempts to argue this case implicates issues of substantial public that interest, but Sarepta's interests here are purely financial. Sarepta's interest in profiting from medically unnecessary products is not within the zone of interest HCA was required to consider when promulgating rules under the Medicaid program. Because none of the criteria in RAP 13.4 are met, this Court should deny review.

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined That Sarepta Is Not Within the Zone of Interest as Required for Standing Under Washington's APA

Sarepta brought its as applied rule challenge under the Washington State APA. In passing the APA, the Washington Legislature "did not confer standing on simply anyone who is dissatisfied with the outcome of the rule-making process." *Allan v. Univ. of Wash.*, 92 Wn. App. 31, 35–36, 959 P.2d 1184 (1998),

aff'd, 140 Wn.2d 323, 997 P.2d 360 (2000). To have standing

under the APA, one must meet each of three conditions:

(1) The agency action has prejudiced or is likely to prejudice that person;

(2) That person's asserted interests are among those that the agency was required to consider when it engaged in the agency action challenged; and

(3) A judgment in favor of that person would substantially eliminate or redress the prejudice to that person caused or likely to be caused by the agency action.

RCW 34.05.530.

The first and third prongs compose the "injury-in-fact" requirements, while the second prong is called the "zone of interest" test. *Seattle Bldg. & Const. Trades Council v. Apprenticeship & Training Council*, 129 Wn.2d 787, 793-94, 920 P.2d 581 (1996). The petitioner bears the burden of proving that both tests are satisfied. *Allan v. Univ. of Washington*, 140 Wn.2d 323, 332, 997 P.2d 360 (2000).

The zone of interest test requires the petitioning party to demonstrate that its "asserted interests are among those that the agency was required to consider when it engaged in the agency action challenged." Seattle Bldg. k Const. Trades *Council*, 129 Wn.2d. at 793. The zone-of-interests test "serves as a filter to limit review to those for whom it is most appropriate." Id. at 797 (citing William R. Andersen, The 1988 Washington Administrative Procedure Act—An Introduction, 64 Wn. L. Rev. 781, 824-25 (1989). "The test focuses on whether the Legislature intended the agency to protect the party's interests when taking the action at issue." Id. (quoting St. Joseph Hosp. & Health Care Ctr. v. Dep't of Health, 125 Wn.2d 733, 739-40, 887 P.2d 891 (1995)). To make that determination, the court looks "to the statute's purpose and operation." Hous. Fin. Comm'n v. Nat'l Homebuyers Fund, Inc., 193 Wn.2d 704, 715, 445 P.3d 533 (2019) (citing Five Corners Family Farmers v. State, 173 Wn.2d 296, 304-05, 268 P.3d 892 (2011)). "If the statute in question was not designed to protect a party's interests, it is not within the zone of interest and its assertion of standing fails." Tacoma Auto Mall, Inc. v. Nissan N. Am., Inc.,

169 Wn. App. 111, 119, 279 P.3d 487 (2012) (citing *Grant Cty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. Moses Lake*, 150 Wn.2d 791, 803, 83 P.3d 419 (2004)). As the Court of Appeals correctly determined after analyzing the pertinent laws, Sarepta does not meet the zone of interest test because neither the Washington Legislature nor Congress intended to protect drug manufacturers' financial interests in selling drugs.

Here, the Court of Appeals analyzed the Washington statutes and found that the Legislature clearly did not intend to protect the interests of a drug manufacturer when it directed HCA to establish an evidence-based prescription drug program. *Sarepta*, 19 Wn. App. at 551. Rather, the Legislature's interests were only in controlling costs and ensuring quality care to Medicaid clients. *Id.* In analyzing federal law, the Court of Appeals determined that the "legislative history is not ambiguous" that Congress's intent in establishing the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program was to control costs, not to protect the financial interests of drug manufacturers, and that Sarepta does not have a legally protected interest that HCA was required to protect when it established rules for the administration of Washington's Medicaid program. *Id.* at 552-54.

1. Washington State's interests in implementing the Medicaid program are to provide safe and effective care to its citizens and avoid waste from unnecessary expenditures

For decades, the Washington Legislature has directed Washington's Medicaid agency to protect two interests: the individual Washington citizen's interest in receiving safe and effective care and the State's interest in providing that care while avoiding waste via unnecessary expenditures. *See, e.g.*, RCW 70.14.050 (state must "take any necessary actions to control costs without reducing the quality of care when reimbursing for or purchasing drugs").

Consistent with federal law, Washington's Legislature has granted an administrative hearing right only to "any [Medicaid] applicant or [Medicaid] recipient" who is aggrieved by HCA's actions. RCW 74.09.741(1)(a); *see* 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a) (a state's Medicaid plan must grant an opportunity for a fair hearing before the state agency to any individual whose claim for medical assistance under the plan is denied). Often in disputes between a state and the Medicaid client, "material questions of fact arise as to whether a treatment is medically necessary." *Moore ex rel. Moore v. Reese*, 637 F.3d 1220, 1252 (11th Cir. 2011). The purpose of a medical necessity administrative hearing is to resolve these disputed facts regarding whether or not a service is medically necessary for that particular Medicaid client.

The Court of Appeals analyzed the Washington statutes and correctly determined that the two interests the Legislature wanted to protect—the individual Medicaid client's interest in receiving safe and effective care and the State's interest in providing precisely that type of care without waste—do not include a drug manufacturer's financial interest in selling products. *Sarepta*, 19 Wn. App. at 551-52. Sarepta appears to concede that it is not within the zone of interest established by the Washington State Legislature by only arguing that the Court of Appeals failed to consider the interests affected by the *federal* Medicaid Drug Rebate Program. Petition at 20. However, this reliance on federal law is in error as well.

2. Congress's interest in passing the prescription drug rebate program was to save money by ensuring Medicaid got the best price on drugs

The purpose of the Medicaid program is to benefit individual Medicaid recipients, not the providers who serve Exceptional Child Center, them. Armstrong v. Inc.. 575 U.S. 320, 332, 135 S. Ct. 1378, 191 L. Ed. 2d 471 (2015) (Medicaid was created "for the benefit of the infirm whom the providers were to serve, rather than for the benefit of the providers themselves"). Like other federal Spending Clause legislation, federal dollars are provided to states in exchange for the states' agreement to spend the money in accordance with congressionally imposed conditions. Id. at 323, 328, 332 (providers have no cause of action to challenge how a state applies Medicaid law because the "sole remedy" that Congress provided for a state's violation is "the withholding of [federal] Medicaid funds").

Federal law allows states to take steps "necessary to safeguard against unnecessary utilization" to "assure that payments are consistent with efficiency, economy, and quality of care." 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A). States can also "place appropriate limits" on covered services "based on such criteria as medical necessity." 42 C.F.R. § 440.230(d).

Although Sarepta criticizes the Court of Appeals for conflating standing with the merits, the crux of Sarepta's standing argument is that Medicaid Drug Rebate Program provides Sarepta with a legally protected interest in payment for Exondys any time a doctor prescribes it. *E.g.*, Petition at 20. Therefore, it was necessary for the Court of Appeals to consider the substantive law in evaluating standing. Sarepta has a fundamental misunderstanding of federal law.

In 1990, Congress determined that Medicaid was routinely paying more for prescription drugs than other large drug purchasers. H.R. Rep. No. 101-881 (1990), *as reprinted in* 1990 U.S.C.C.A.N 2017, 2108. Therefore Congress decided to

16

"establish a rebate mechanism in order to give Medicaid the benefit of the best price for which a manufacturer sells a prescription drug to any public or private purchaser." *Id*.

As the United States Supreme Court has explained, pre-1990, states utilized two different methods to control payment for prescription drugs: (1) coverage restrictions (i.e., a list of non-covered drugs), and (2) prior authorization programs "that required approval by a state agency to qualify a doctor's prescription for reimbursement." Pharm. Rsch & Mfrs. of Am. v. 538 U.S. 644, S. Ct. Walsh, 651. 123 1855. 155 L. Ed. 2d 889 (2003). In passing the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, Congress prohibited the first (coverage restrictions such as non-covered lists), and ratified the second (prior authorization programs). *Id.* at 651-53. As an example of the type of existing prior authorization program that Congress ratified, the Supreme Court cited to California's prior authorization program. Id. at 651 (citing Cowan v. Myers, 187 Cal.App.3d 968, 974-75, 232 Cal.Rptr. 299 (1986)). In California's prior authorization program, the type that was being ratified by Congress, California's Medicaid program evaluated the medical necessity of a physician's prescription. Cowan, 187 Cal.App.3d at 976 ("plaintiffs are in error when they assert the physician is the sole arbiter of what constitutes a medical necessity"). When Congress authorized states to "subject to prior authorization any covered outpatient drug," 42 U.S.C. § 1396r-8(d)(1)(A), Congress recognized this would continue to give states the ability to "safeguard against unnecessary utilization and assure that payments are consistent with efficiency, economy and quality of care." 1990 U.S.C.C.A.N 2017, 2110. In other words, under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, a state still retains "broad discretion to subject covered drugs to prior authorization in order to achieve cost saving for the Medicaid program, even though a prior authorization requirement may burden the ability of the Medicaid recipients to obtain prescription drugs." Brief for the United States of America as Amicus Curiae Supporting Reversal,

Pharm. Rsrch. and Mfrs. of Am., 538 U.S. 644 (2003) (No. 01-188), 2002 WL 31156279 at *15.

Here, it was necessary for the Court of Appeals to understand the purpose and mechanics of the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program to determine if Sarepta was in Congress's zone of interest. After carefully considering the federal law, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that Congress's intent in passing the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program was to reduce costs and that federal law does not establish that Sarepta has an interest that HCA was required to protect when it established rules for the administration of Washington's Medicaid program. *Sarepta*, 19 Wn. App. at 552-55.

Sarepta's arguments to this Court disputing the Court of Appeals' legal conclusions are nothing more than an attempt to re-litigate the legal question of Congress's intent in passing the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program. But the Court of Appeals' analysis of this issue does not conflict with precedent from this Court and has no basis in the grounds articulated under RAP 13.4.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision in This Case Does Not Conflict with any Decisions From This Court

Sarepta's claim that the Court of Appeals' analysis of the zone of interest test is in conflict with two of this Court's decisions is not well-founded. Petition at 16-18. These cases support the Court of Appeals' analysis, rather than conflict with it.

The first case Sarepta incorrectly claims is in conflict involves the certificate of need program, where health care providers wishing to establish or expand certain medical facilities are required to obtain a "certificate of need" from the Department of Health. *St. Joseph Hosp.*, 125 Wn.2d at 736. When Care Inc. filed a certificate of need application for a new kidney dialysis center in Lakewood, the Department of Health gave St. Joseph Hospital required notice as an "affected person" and notified the hospital of its right to request a public hearing. *Id.* at 737. St. Joseph's requested a public hearing and testified at it, after which the Department of Health denied Care Inc.'s application on the basis that there was not a need for additional dialysis stations in that geographical area. *Id.* But after Care Inc. utilized an administrative appeal process that did not include St. Joseph's participation, the Department of Health granted Care Inc.'s application subject to the condition that Care Inc. obtain agreement with St. Joseph Hospital for patient referral and treatment coordination. Id. When the Department of Health refused to consider St. Joseph's objection, St. Joseph's filed a petition for judicial review, and the superior court found the Department of Health's approval of Care Inc.'s application unconstitutional, outside the agency's authority, and arbitrary and capricious. *Id.* at 738. The Department of Health argued that St. Joseph's was not in the "zone of interest" required for standing. This Court analyzed the statute and determined the Legislature's intent was not only to control costs to the public, but also "to accomplish that control by limiting competition within the health care industry." Id. at 741. Because the Legislature intended to "regulate competition," and because appeals of a certificate of need approval "can only be achieved if competitors have standing," this Court found competing service providers to be within the statutory zone of interest. *Id.* at 741-42.

Sarepta argues that the *St. Joseph* case demonstrates the appropriate application of the "lenient" zone of interest test. Petition at 16. But in the *St. Joseph* case, this Court found that the test "focuses on whether the Legislature intended the agency to protect the party's interests when taking the action at issue." *St. Joseph Hosp.*, 125 Wn.2d at 739-40. Although HCA acknowledges that this test "is not meant to be especially demanding," it does serve as "an additional filter limiting the group that can obtain judicial review." *Seattle Bldg. & Const. Trades Council*, 129 Wn.2d. at 797. Thus, the court's task is to determine whether the Legislature intended the party's interests to be protected by the agency. *Id.*

In St. Joseph, this Court conducted a thorough analysis of the certificate of need statute and the Legislature's intent for that particular program. And a thorough analysis of the applicable laws and intent of Medicaid law is exactly what the Court of Appeals did here. The Court of Appeals' conclusion that Sarepta is not within the zone of interest does not conflict with a decision of this Court merely because the outcome of the fact-specific analysis turns out differently when different facts are presented. Also, unlike in the certificate of need program where competitors had a right to notice and the ability to request a public hearing, and where there would no ability for anyone to challenge an approval if competitors didn't have standing, a Medicaid client who is denied any particular service or drug has appeal rights.

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